RECEIVED

May 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Shannon M. Phillips, Presiding Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-000160

Kaleb Jowers,
Appellant,

v.

Spartanburg Methodist College,
Respondent,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

G. LEE COLE, JR.

Cox & Cole, Attorneys at Law
P.O. Box 315
Williamston, SC 29697
Tel. (864) 847-9289
Fax (888) 588-3142
LeeCole@CoxandCole.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the Circuit Court err in finding that the electronic filing of a Notice of Appearance by Counsel for the Respondent was not a “voluntary appearance...equivalent to personal service” by the Respondent pursuant to Rule 4(d), SCRCPP, and thus, dismissing this case for failure of the Respondent to be served prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations?

II.

Did the Circuit Court err in finding that an e-mail, sent on December 3, 2021, from Counsel for the Respondent to Counsel for the Appellant agreeing to accept service of the Summons of Complaint on behalf of the Respondent was not effective until the electronic signing of a formal Acceptance of Service form on May 4, 2022, and thus, dismissing this case for failure of the Respondent to be served prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, a former student at Spartanburg Methodist College, filed this action on September 23, 2021, alleging gross negligence on the part of the Respondent, Spartanburg Methodist College, for injuries that the Appellant sustained while he was enrolled as a student of the Respondent. (Tr. p. 4, l. 24 – p. 5, l. 4). The Appellant's injuries occurred on April 11, 2019, so the three (3) year statute of limitations, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-350 (1976, as amended), expired on April 11, 2022.

Counsel for the Respondent electronically filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of the Respondent on October 7, 2021. (Return to Motion to Dismiss, Ex. A). Counsel for the Appellant, as a courtesy to Counsel for the Respondent, attempted to contact him by telephone in November 2021, to confirm that he would accept service on behalf of the Respondent. (Return to Motion to Dismiss). Counsel for the Respondent sent an e-mail to Counsel for the Appellant, on December 3, 2021, stating that he would accept service on behalf of the Respondent. (Return to Motion to Dismiss, Ex. B). Counsel for the Appellant subsequently failed to send a formal Acceptance of Service form to Counsel for the Respondent until May 4, 2022. (Return to Motion to Dismiss). Said form was electronically signed by Counsel for the Respondent on the same date. (Return to Motion to Dismiss).

On June 3, 2022, the Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss the Appellant's claims, alleging that the Respondent had not been served within the applicable three (3) year statute of limitations. A virtual hearing on the Respondent's Motion was held on October 17, 2022, and the Court issued an Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. Said Order was filed on October 28, 2022, and the Appellant received written notice of entry of said Order on that same date.

The Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend said Order on October 28, 2022. The Court filed an Order denying the Appellant's Motion on January 29, 2024, and the Appellant received written notice of the entry of said Order on that same date. The Appellant filed and served the Notice of Appeal on February 2, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Circuit Court’s “findings of fact regarding the validity of service of process are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.” *Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 294-295, 721 S.E.2d 430, 432 (2012) *citing Clark v. Key*, 304 S.C. 497, 500, 405 S.E.2d 599, 601 (1991).

ARGUMENT

I.

The Circuit Court erred in finding that the electronic filing of a Notice of Appearance by Counsel for the Respondent was not a “voluntary appearance...equivalent to personal service” by the Respondent pursuant to Rule 4(d), SCRPC, and thus, dismissing this case for failure of the Respondent to be served prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.

Service was effective on the Respondent on October 7, 2021, the date that Counsel for the Respondent electronically filed a Notice of Appearance on its behalf. “Voluntary appearance by defendant is equivalent to personal service.” Rule 4(d), SCRPC. A Court also obtains personal jurisdiction over a defendant by the defendant’s voluntary appearance. *Stearns Bank Nat. Ass’n v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 373 S.C. 331, 337, 644 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2007). Further, voluntary appearance by a defendant waives “any defect or irregularity in the service of process” on said defendant. *Stickland v. Consolidated Energy Products Co.*, 274 S.C. 554, 555, 265 S.E.2d 682, 683 (1980).

The electronic filing of a Notice of Appearance by Counsel for the Respondent constituted a voluntary appearance by the Respondent. A voluntary appearance can be accomplished by a formal filing or by the words or actions of a defendant. “[A] defendant may choose to come into court with trumpets, or quietly by the back door.” *Stephens v. Ringling*, 102 S.C. 333, 86 S.E. 683, 685 (1915). In this case, the Respondent, through counsel, submitted a formal filing to the Court indicating that it was aware that this action had been filed and that counsel was appearing on its behalf. Therefore, the actions of Respondent, in having its attorney file a Notice of Appearance show the Respondent’s intent to voluntarily appear in this case.

II.

The Circuit Court erred in finding that an e-mail, sent on December 3, 2021, from Counsel for the Respondent to Counsel for the Appellant agreeing to accept service of the Summons of Complaint on behalf of the Respondent was not effective until the electronic signing of a formal Acceptance of Service form on May 4, 2022, and thus, dismissing this case for failure of the Respondent to be served prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.

Counsel for the Respondent confirmed to Counsel for the Appellant, by e-mail, on December 3, 2021, that he would accept service of the Summons and Complaint on the Respondent's behalf. The Appellant concedes that a formal Acceptance of Form was not electronically signed by Counsel for the Respondent until May 4, 2022. However, the Respondent clearly had notice of this action and electronic access to the pleadings at least by December 3, 2021.

The "principal object" of service of process is to ensure that a defendant has notice of the proceedings against it. *Mull v. Richland Realty, LLC*, 387 S.C. 479, 485, 693 S.E.2d 27, 30 (Ct. App. 2010) citing *Burriss Chemical, Inc. v. Daniel Const. Co.*, 251 S.C. 483, 487, 163 S.E.2d 618, 620 (1968). Further, [e]xacting compliance with the rules is not required to effect service of process." *Id.* The representations of Counsel for the Respondent to Counsel for the Appellant show that the Respondent had notice of the proceedings and intended to accept service of the pleadings on December 3, 2021; therefore, the effective date of Respondent's acceptance of service was on that same date.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent voluntarily appeared in this matter through the electronic filing of a Notice of Appearance by its attorney on October 7, 2021. This voluntary appearance was equivalent to personal service pursuant to Rule 4(d), SCRCP. Moreover, Counsel for the Respondent accepted service of the Summons and Complaint in this matter by his e-mail to Counsel for the Appellant on December 3, 2021. Both of these dates occurred well in advance of the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations on April 11, 2024. Therefore, the Appellant would respectfully request that the Circuit Court’s Order Granting Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss, filed October 22, 2024, be reversed.

May 20, 2024