**RECEIVED**

**Jul 22 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

The Honorable Shannon M. Phillips  
Presiding Circuit Court Judge

---

C.A. No.: 2021-CP-42-03180  
Appellate Case No. 2024-000160

Kaleb Jowers..... Appellant,

v.

Spartanburg Methodist College..... Respondent

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Respectfully submitted,

**HOLCOMBE BOMAR, P.A.**

s/ A. Todd Darwin

\_\_\_\_\_  
A. Todd Darwin, SC Bar #7032

Post Office Box 1897

Spartanburg, South Carolina 29304

(864) 594-5300

tdarwin@holcombebomar.com

Attorneys for Respondent

July 21, 2024

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FIND THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO PROPERLY SERVE THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT ON THE RESPONDENT WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND PROPERLY DISMISS THE CASE
  
- II. DID THE FILING OF AN ELECTRONIC NOTICE OF APPEARANCE BY COUNSEL FOR THE RESPONDENT OBVIATE THE NEED FOR APPELLANT TO SERVE THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT ON RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Kaleb Jowers (“Appellant”) filed a Summons and Complaint on September 23, 2021, alleging negligence on behalf of Spartanburg Methodist College (“Respondent”), based on an incident occurring on April 11, 2019. (Complaint, ¶ 7R. at \_\_\_\_). The applicable statute of limitations pursuant to S.C. Code §15-3-530 expired on Appellant’s claim on April 11, 2022. Prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations, counsel for the Appellant never served the Respondent or counsel for the Respondent with filed copies of the Summons and Complaint. (Hearing on Motion to Dismiss Tr. 5:16-20, R at \_\_\_\_).

On October 7, 2021, counsel for the Respondent filed an electronic Notice of Appearance on behalf of the Respondent. (Ex. A, to Appellant’s Return to Motion to Dismiss R. at \_\_\_\_). On December 3, 2021, counsel for Respondent sent an email to counsel for the Appellant in which he advised counsel for the Appellant that he was authorized to accept service of the pleadings on behalf of the Respondent, asked counsel for the Appellant to “please send an acceptance form.” (Ex. B to Appellant’s Return to Motion to Dismiss, R. at \_\_\_\_). Counsel for the Appellant did not send an acceptance of service form to Respondent’s counsel until May 4, 2022, thirteen days after the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court had filed a Dormant File Notice on April 21, 2022 in the

case, stating that no proof of service had been filed since the case filing, and advising that the case would be dismissed pursuant to Rule 5(d), SCRPC if Appellant's counsel filed proof of service within ten (10) days. (Dormant File Notice R., at \_\_\_).

Respondent timely filed a Motion to Dismiss on June 3, 2022, and Appellant filed a Return to Motion to Dismiss on October 17, 2022, the same day the Court held the hearing on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. (Motion to Dismiss R. at \_\_\_) and (Return to Motion to Dismiss, R. at \_\_\_). The Court filed its Order dismissing the case on October 28, 2022 (Order, R. at \_\_\_), and Appellant filed his Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend on October 28, 2022 (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). On January 29, 2024, the Court filed its Form 4 Order denying the Appellant's Motion to Reconsider (Form 4 Order, R. at \_\_\_\_\_), and Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on February 2, 2024.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The trial court's finding of fact regarding validity of service of process are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Christian v. Healy*, 435 S.C. 507, 868 S.E.2d 403 (Ct. App. 2021) citing *Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 721 S.E.2d 430 (2012). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions. *Kiriakides v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville County*, 382 S.C. 8, 20, 675 S.E.2d 439, 445 (2009).

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. **THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO SERVE THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT ON THE RESPONDENT WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND PROPERLY DISMISSED THE CASE.**

After considering the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss and the Appellant's Return

to Motion to Dismiss with exhibits, and hearing the arguments of counsel during the motion hearing on October 17, 2022, the Presiding Judge found in favor of the Respondent and dismissed the Appellant's Summons and Complaint. In the dismissal Order the Court held that, despite any argument to the contrary, Appellant failed to serve the summons and complaint in the case. Pursuant to Rule 5(d), SCRPC, "[p]roof of service shall be filed within ten (10) days after service of the summons and complaint. Upon failure to serve the summons and complaint, the action may be dismissed by the court on the court's own initiative or upon application of any party." (Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, R. at \_\_\_). Furthermore, pursuant to Rule 4(d), SCRPC, the summons and complaint must be served together. The trial Court properly found and held that Respondent never served a copy of the summons and complaint on the Respondent, despite counsel for the Respondent's request that he be sent an acceptance of service form.

The plaintiff has the burden to establish that the court has personal jurisdiction over the defendant. *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 473 S.E.2d 64 (1996). As the trial Court found, he failed to meet that burden in this case. Counsel for the Appellant acknowledges that he failed to send an acceptance of service form to counsel for the Respondent until after the statute of limitations had expired, but argues that because counsel for the Respondent had access to the pleadings the case should not have been dismissed. However, with the introduction of the Court's electronic filing system, that argument could be made of any case filed. All anyone needs to do is to search a party's name on the Public Index to ascertain if there is a pending case against that party. Just because an attorney may know of a pending lawsuit against her/his client based on a random search of the Public Index, that does not alleviate the need for the plaintiff to follow the Court rules

and properly serve the summons and complaint in an manner consistent with the requirements of Rules 4 and 5, SCRCP.

**II. THE FILING OF AN ELECTRONIC NOTICE OF APPEARANCE BY COUNSEL FOR THE RESPONDENT DID NOT OBLIVATE THE NEED FOR APPELLANT TO SERVE THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT ON RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL.**

Appellant first asserts that service was effective on the Respondent when counsel for the Respondent filed an electronic Notice of Appearance on October 7, 2021, arguing that the notice filed by counsel constituted a voluntary appearance by the Respondent which was the equivalent to personal service under Rule 4(d), SCRCP. (Return to Motion to Dismiss, R. at \_\_\_\_). The trial Court considered this argument and summarily rejected it. There are any number of reasons counsel for a party might file an electronic Notice of Appearance, the most obvious reason being that they want to be notified whenever anything new is filed on that matter, like an Affidavit of Service indicating that their client has been served with the pleadings, any motions that might be filed, etc. The simple act of filing an electronic Notice of Appearance cannot be a substitute for the duty to properly serve the pleadings pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. That would be akin to arguing that a high profile case that makes it in print newspapers or on the evening news and references the filing of a lawsuit against a particular defendant constitutes service on the defendant, because that defendant has been provided with notice of the filed action, and the Public Index affords access to the pleadings to anyone with a computer and internet access.

Appellant next argues that if that Notice of Appearance did not constitute a voluntary appearance, then the December 3, 2021 email from counsel for the Respondent to counsel for the Appellant stating that he was authorized to accept service on behalf of the

Respondent and specifically asking Appellant's counsel to send him an acceptance of service form definitely constituted service. However, counsel for the Appellant also admits in his Return to Motion to Dismiss that counsel for the Respondent "confirmed, in writing, that he **would [emphasis added]** accept service" (had he been provided with an acceptance of service form from counsel for the Respondent), and that he "subsequently failed to send a formal Acceptance of Service form" to counsel for the Respondent until May 4, 2022. In fact, there is no record of any contact from Appellant's counsel to Respondent's counsel between December 3, 2021 and May 4, 2022. Counsel for the Appellant further "admits that he should have sent the Acceptance of Service form to Counsel for the Defendant in a timely manner." (Return to Motion to Dismiss, R. at \_\_\_\_). Moreover, if counsel for the Appellant truly believed that service had been perfected on the Respondent, then he should have advised the Court that the summons and complaint had already been served in response to the Court's April 21, 2022 Dormant File Notice.

Once again, the trial Court considered these arguments and found that counsel for the Respondent had not made a voluntary appearance under Rule 4(d), SCRC. Courts decide on a case by case basis whether a defendant's act demonstrates an intent to submit to the court's jurisdiction. *Stearns Bank Nat. Ass'n v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 373 S.C. 331, 644 S.E.2d 793 (2007). In this case, the presiding Judge found that Respondent's actions had not demonstrated the requisite intent to submit to the court's jurisdiction, and because that finding was not an abuse of discretion it should not be disturbed on appeal.

**CONCLUSION**

Because the trial Court correctly found that Appellant had failed to timely effect service of process on the Respondent, this Court should affirm the trial Court's decision in all respects.